ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JUL 27 2015

Certiorari to Horry County
Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. Supreme Court

NELSON H. CASTRO,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000021

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

WANDA H. CARTER
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Trial counsel erred in failing to object to the trial judge's retaliatory sentence handed down in the case because it was clear that petitioner was being punished for rejecting the state's plea offer and exercising his right to a jury trial.

STATEMENT

Petitioner Nelson H. Castro was found guilty of trafficking in cocaine per a jury trial held during the April 2010 term of the Horry County General Sessions Court before Judge Larry B. Hyman. Petitioner was sentenced to imprisonment for a period of fifteen years. App. 1 – 297. A sentencing reconsideration hearing was held before Judge Hyman on June 17, 2010, but the motion to reconsider petitioner’s sentence was denied. See Supp. App. 1-17. Petitioner was represented by William I. Diggs at trial and at the sentencing reconsideration hearing. Assistant Solicitor Scott Graustein appeared at the plea proceeding on behalf of the state, and Assistant Solicitor Beverly BJ Landrum represented the state during the sentencing reconsideration hearing.

Petitioner appealed, but his conviction and sentence were affirmed. See State v. Castro, Op. No. 2012-UP-378 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 20, 2012). See Supp. App. 19-20. Katherine H. Hudgins, Esquire, of the Office of Appellate Defense, represented petitioner on direct appeal.

On March 18, 2013, petitioner filed a PCR application with the Horry County Office of the Clerk of Court. App. 299 – 307. The respondent filed a return dated September 19, 2013, requesting that a hearing be held in response to petitioner’s PCR action. App. 308- 313.

A PCR hearing was convened on August 27, 2014, at the Horry County Courthouse before Judge Kristi L. Harrington. App. 314 – 347. Petitioner was present at the hearing and represented by Daniel A. Selwa, and Assistant Attorney General Joshua L. Thomas appeared on behalf of the state. On October 8, 2014, Judge Harrington issued an Order of Dismissal denying petitioner’s allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel in the case. App. 349-353.

Petitioner appealed. This petition follows.

ARGUMENT

Trial counsel erred in failing to object to the trial judge's retaliatory sentence handed down in the case because it was clear that petitioner was being punished for rejecting the state's plea offer and exercising his right to a jury trial.

Prior to trial, the state offered petitioner a seven-year plea deal. This was an undercover drug buy case. State's witness and confidential informant Christopher Norris testified that he assisted Police Officer Joseph Necessary in a controlled drug buy on August 28, 2009, when he went to petitioner's home and bought three ounces of cocaine from petitioner. App. 139, l. 8 – p. 154, l. 19; App. 38, l. 5 – p. 51, l. 25.

On direct appeal, the following issues were raised:

1. Did the judge err in refusing to declare a mistrial when the confidential informant improperly testified about prior purchases of marijuana and cocaine from appellant and appellant was prejudiced by the improper testimony?

2. Did the judge err in punishing appellant for exercising his right to a trial by jury and sentencing him to fifteen years when the judge told appellant he was inclined to sentence him to seven years if he pled guilty but not if he went to trial?

The South Carolina Court of Appeals issued an Opinion in the case on June 20, 2012, affirming petitioner's conviction and sentence by ruling on the two issues as follows:

1. As to whether the circuit court erred in denying his motion for a mistrial when the confidential informant testified about prior purchases of marijuana and cocaine from Castro: State v. Wilson, 389 S.C. 579, 698 S.E.2d 862, 865 (Ct. App. 2010) (“The decision to grant or deny a mistrial within the sound discretion of the [circuit] court. The [circuit] court's decision will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law.” (Internal citations and quotation marks omitted)); id. at 585-86, 698 S.E.2d at 865 (“A mistrial should only be granted when absolutely necessary, and the defendant must show both error and prejudice in order to be entitled to a mistrial. Insubstantial errors that do no impact the result

of the case do not warrant a mistrial when guilt is conclusively proven by competent evidence.” (internal citations and quotation marks omitted)).

2. As to whether the circuit court improperly penalized Castro for exercising his Sixth Amendment right to trial by jury: State v. Johnston, 333 S.C. 459, 462, 510 S.E.2d 423, 425 (1999) (noting that the South Carolina Supreme Court “has consistently held that a challenge to sentencing must be raised at trial, or the issue will not be preserved for appellate review”); State v. Huggins, 336 S.C. 200, 203 n.2, 519 S.E.2d 574, 575 n.2 (1999)(applying preservation requirements to constitutional arguments). Supp. App. 20.

During the PCR hearing, petitioner testified that his chief complaint concerned trial counsel’s error in failing to object to the retaliatory sentence imposed by the trial judge because he rejected the seven-year plea deal and exercised his right to a trial by jury; and that although the retaliatory sentencing issue was raised on direct appeal, it received no appellate review since trial counsel failed to preserve this question for appellate review by not objecting to the same at trial and at the sentencing reconsideration hearing. App. 329, l. 21 – p. 330, l. 12; App. 330, l. 10 – p. 332, l. 2.

Trial counsel testified at the PCR hearing and explained that he did not object to petitioner’s sentence as being retaliatory because “he didn’t think that [petitioner] was punished because of going to trial” and that “it never struck [him] that [petitioner] was going to be punished [by going to trial] so he didn’t raise [an objection] to the sentence.” App. 341-342.

However, ultimately, trial counsel admitted error at the PCR hearing as follows

Q. Mr. Diggs, had you objected to that, would he have been able to address that on appeal?

A. The punishment for going to trial?

Q. Yes.

A. Yeah, I -- yeah.

Q. I'm sorry?

A. Yes. It would have been preserved. It could have been pursued.

Q. And it wasn't thought; right?

A. Right. App. 343, lines 3-11.

The PCR judge ruled that petitioner "failed to meet his burden of proving trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to the sentence" because there was no showing that the trial judge punished him for exercising his right to a jury trial. App. 352-353.

The retaliatory sentencing was an issue in this case because of the pre-trial remarks made by the trial judge regarding petitioner's rejection of the state's seven-year plea offer and his choice to exercise his right to a jury as follows:

The [solicitor] has agreed to allow you to plead to one indictment, and that is an indictment for trafficking in cocaine, twenty-eight to one hundred grams. Your exposure on that would be seven to twenty-five years. Upon your plea, he would be dismissing the other charges that you are looking at. I have pre-tried this with your attorney, and I will tell you I am inclined to sentence on a plea seven years. Also, you would, regardless of how this trial comes out, you would still be looking at the other three charges as well for which you could be tried and would be tried. Now, your attorney tells me that you do not wish to accept this offer by the State, that you want to go to trial on this charge, and ultimately for all the charges. Is that what you want to do, Mr. Castro? Are you sure that's what you want to do?

Mr. Castro: Yes, Your Honor. App. 6, lines 5 – 24.

Then, at the close of the case after the jury found petitioner guilty as charged, the trial judge again commented on petitioner's decision to exercise of his right to a jury trial as follows:

Solicitor: [petitioner] was offered to plead to a minimum sentence..[but] chose to reject that plea offer

The Court: In addition, he was given the concession of dismissal of several other pending charges that have not been tried?

[Solicitor]: That is correct, Your Honor, if he [had] pled guilty... The State does not seek or request any mercy on this Defendant.

The Court: Mr. Castro, this is classified by the Legislature in this State as not only a violent crime, but a most serious offense. It has a no probation, no suspension of sentence clause in the sentence.

You are different from these other defendants in that they have cooperated and they have acknowledged their responsibility for the crimes that they have committed. Mr. Castro, this is, as I said, an extremely serious offense. The State has had to take you to trial on a case where there was overwhelming evidence of your guilt. The jury has found you guilty, and I sentence you to incarceration...for a period of fifteen years. App. 275, lines 2 – p. 276, l.19.

Finally, at the sentencing reconsideration hearing, the solicitor reminded the trial judge of petitioner's jury trial request in the case as follows:

Solicitor: The State ...offered [petitioner] to plead to the charge with a recommendation of seven years; and that he refused that plea....wanted a trial and...prior to trial...the [trial judge] informed him that he would likely get seven years if he pled....[but] he did not plead.....Supp. App. 11. L. 25 – p. 12, l. 6.

It is patently obvious that the trial judge (and the solicitor) were clearly miffed and perturbed over petitioner's rejection of the seven-year plea offer and his pursuit of a jury trial instead. The trial judge in effect expressed verbally his dismay prior to trial and after the trial over petitioner's decision to be tried by jury. Although petitioner did not receive the maximum twenty-five-year sentence; clearly, the fifteen-year sentence was twice the prison sentence presented per the plea bargain offer and undoubtedly punishment for rejecting the offer and moving forward with a trial.

No right is more fundamental than to put the state to its burden of proof. State v. Sloan, 278 S.C. 435; 298 S.E.2d 92 (1982). A trial judge cannot consider the defendant's election to exercise his right to a jury trial at sentencing by punishing him via a greater sentence because he failed to