STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

SEP 10 2015

The Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge, **Supreme Court**

Appellate Case No. 2015-000021

Nelson H. Castro, Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA L. THOMAS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100777

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the post-conviction relief judge properly find Petitioner failed to demonstrate trial counsel ineffective in failing to object to Petitioner's sentence where Petitioner conceded at trial the record does not contain any evidence the trial judge's sentence was retaliatory; where trial counsel articulated valid reasoning for not finding the sentence objectionable; and where the record indicates the trial judge based his sentence on several other serious factors?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For the purposes of this return, Respondent adopts Petitioner's statement of the case.

ARGUMENT

I. Probative evidence supports the post-conviction relief judge's finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to Petitioner's sentence.

Petitioner asserts the post-conviction relief judge erred in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for “not objecting to the trial judge’s retaliatory sentence[.]” (Pet. for Writ of Cert. p. 8). However, this argument overlooks the fact the trial judge articulated several factors he considered in issuing his sentence. It also overlooks the fact trial counsel, who was in a better position make this determination, did not believe the trial judge issued a retaliatory sentence. Accordingly, the post-conviction relief judge did not err in denying relief.

In this post-conviction relief action, Petitioner bears the burden of proof. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (citing Griffin v. Martin, 278 S.C. 620, 300 S.E.2d 482 (1983)). This Court strongly presumes trial counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Id. (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)). The Court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). First, Petitioner must prove trial counsel’s performance was deficient. Id. Under this prong, the Court measures trial counsel’s performance by its “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, any deficient performance must have prejudiced Petitioner such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Id. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

On appeal, this Court must affirm the circuit court's denial of post-conviction relief when there is probative evidence to support the findings of the circuit court. Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 163, 485 S.E.2d 367, 369 (1997) (citing McCray v. State, 317 S.C. 557, 455 S.E.2d 686 (1995); Cherry, 300 S.C. at 115, 386 S.E.2d at 624)).

Initially, Respondent submits Petitioner's arguments are not preserved for appeal. Petitioner argues various statements by the trial judge indicate he punished Petitioner for exercising his right to a jury trial. (Pet. for Writ of Cert. p. 6; p. 7). However, when asked to identify "any statement or anything in the transcript [...] that would indicate [the trial judge] was punishing [Petitioner] for exercising his constitutional rights[.]" Petitioner failed to direct the post-conviction relief judge to any specific parts of the transcript to support his argument. (App. p. 346, line 23-p. 347, line 3). Because Petitioner failed to articulate at the evidentiary hearing any of the arguments forwarded in the petition, those arguments are not properly before this Court. See, e.g., CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cnty. Assessor, 395 S.C. 67, 81, 716 S.E.2d 877, 885 (2011) ("A litigant cannot concede an issue at trial and then raise it on appeal." (citing Southern Ry. v. Routh, 161 S.C. 328, 333, 159 S.E. 640, 642 (1930)); Kinard v. Crosby, 315 S.C. 237, 240, 433 S.E.2d 835, 837 (1993) (party cannot argue evidentiary issues on appeal that were conceded at trial)).

Regardless, the post-conviction relief judge properly found trial counsel articulated a valid strategic reason for not objecting to Petitioner's sentence. See Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 548, 419 S.E.2d 778, 779 (1992) ("Where, as here, counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel." (citing Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992))). Trial counsel testified he did not believe the trial judge was punishing

Petitioner for exercising his right to a jury trial. (App. p. 342, lines 5-7). He articulated that the trial judge's comments at the arraignment were apparently a warning that developments at trial may necessitate a harsher sentence. (App. p. 342, lines 7-15). Trial counsel also testified he would have objected if he sensed the trial judge was punishing Petitioner for going to trial. (App. p. 343, line 14-p. 344, line 21). Trial counsel was present throughout the entire proceedings and was in the best position to observe the trial judge's demeanor and tone. Petitioner cites approximately sixty-eight¹ lines from the entire record to demonstrate it is "patently obvious" the trial judge was "miffed and perturbed" at Petitioner. (Pet. for Writ of Cert. p. 6-7). However, these isolated references cannot overcome trial counsel's judgment that the trial judge was not punishing Petitioner. See United States v. Mullins, 446 F.3d 750, 758 (8th Cir. 2006) (isolated errors "should not be unduly magnified when the printed transcript is subjected to painstaking review in the reflective quiet of an appellate judge's chambers."). Trial counsel clearly did not believe the sentence was retaliatory in any sense, and the post-conviction relief judge properly credited trial counsel's judgment.

The post-conviction relief judge also properly found Petitioner failed to demonstrate he would have received a different sentence if such an objection had been made. Petitioner seizes upon trial counsel's admission that an objection would have preserved the error for review as evidence of ineffectiveness. (Pet. for Writ of Cert. p. 5-6). However, failure to preserve an issue is not grounds for a new sentencing hearing in and of itself. Petitioner must also show the appellate court would have reversed the sentence. See McHam v. State, 404 S.C. 465, 481-82, 746 S.E.2d 41, 50 (2013)

¹ Respondent submits only seven lines (App. p. 276, lines 11-13; Supp. App. p. 14, lines 20-23) of a 294 page trial record even remotely resemble the offending statements made in Davis v. State, 336 S.C. 329, 332, 520 S.E.2d 801, 802 (1999), and State v. Hazel, 317 S.C. 368, 369, 453 S.E.2d 879, 879 (1995).

(applicant must still show prejudice from failure to object at trial (citing Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 518 S.E.2d 265 (1999))).

Petitioner essentially argues the trial judge's sentence was retaliatory because he told Petitioner he would issue a seven year sentence at arraignment, but instead issued a fifteen year sentence after trial.² However, the fact a defendant receives a harsher sentence after trial is not a *per se* abuse of discretion. See State v. Brouwer, 346 S.C. 375, 391, 550 S.E.2d 915, 924 (Ct. App. 2001) (Anderson, J., dissenting) ("The defendant who opts to go to trial rather than negotiating a plea runs the risk of a harsher sentence than he would have received by pleading guilty. (citing United States v. Quejada-Zurique, 708 F.2d 857 (1st Cir. 1983))). The trial judge's statements at the arraignment were part of his colloquy with Applicant about the risks and benefits of accepting the State's plea offer.³ His indication he would issue a seven year sentence appears to have been based on only the brief recitation of the facts he received from the attorneys in chambers prior to the arraignment. However, developments at trial may have given the trial judge reason to believe a more serious sentence was appropriate. Id. at 392, 550 S.E.2d at 924 (Anderson, J., dissenting) ("A trial judge may impose a greater sentence upon a defendant after the judge has heard the evidence at trial than he might

² Interestingly, Petitioner does not even cite to the trial judge's statements that "acceptance of responsibility is, I believe, a valid consideration for the Court." (Supp. App. p. 14, lines 20-23). Because he has made no complaints about these statements, they are not properly before this Court. McCray v. State, 317 S.C. 557, 559 n.1, 455 S.E.2d 686, 687 n.1 (1995) (issues not raised in petition are not preserved for review).

³ These statements at arraignment should be given even less credence in evaluating Petitioner's allegation because the purpose of the arraignment was to confront Petitioner with the risks and benefits of proceeding to trial. Brouwer, 346 S.C. 375, 392, 550 S.E.2d 915, 924 (Anderson, J., dissenting) ("While confronting a defendant with the risk of more severe punishment clearly may have a discouraging effect on the defendant's assertion of his trial rights, the imposition of these difficult choices is an inevitable-and permissible-attribute of any legitimate system which tolerates and encourages the negotiation of pleas." (citing Bordenkircher v. Hayes, 434 U.S. 357 (1978))).

have imposed in conjunction with a guilty plea.” (citing West v. State, 528 S.E.2d 287 (Ga. Ct. App. 2000))).

In fact, the trial judge indicated his sentence was partially based on the overwhelming evidence of Petitioner’s guilt, including a video of Petitioner “very casual[ly]” conducting drug transactions. (Supp. App. p. 14, line 24-p. 15, line 10). The trial judge also based his sentence on the fact Petitioner faced multiple other charges, which indicated Petitioner was engaged in a continuing course of conduct as a drug dealer. (Supp. App. p. 14, lines 12-19). The trial judge also took into consideration Petitioner’s immigration status. (Supp. App. p. 15, lines 23-24). Because the record reflects the trial judge based his sentence on several serious factors other than Petitioner’s decision to proceed to trial, he did not abuse his discretion. See, e.g., State v. Follin, 352 S.C. 235, 257, 573 S.E.2d 812, 824 (Ct. App. 2002) (“[W]hen the record clearly reflects an appropriate basis for a disparate sentence, the sentencing judge may impose a different sentence on a co-defendant in a criminal trial.”); Brouwer, 346 S.C. at 388, 550 S.E.2d at 922 (Ct. App. 2001) (consideration of defendant exercising right to trial is inappropriate where “the record fails to reflect **an otherwise appropriate basis**” for defendant’s sentence (emphasis added)). Because a properly preserved objection would not have resulted in a successful direct appeal, the post-conviction relief judge properly found Applicant was not prejudiced by trial counsel’s decision to not object to Petitioner’s sentence.

Because the record contains significant probative evidence trial counsel acted reasonably and within professional norms at Petitioner’s sentencing and that no prejudice resulted from trial counsel’s actions, the post-conviction relief judge did not err in

denying the application for post-conviction relief. Wolfe, 326 S.C. at 163, 485 S.E.2d at 369.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.